# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# CASE NUMBER SC09-2016

# ERIC KURT PATRICK,

Appellant,

v.

#### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

# Appellee.

# A CAPITAL APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY

#### CRIMINAL DIVISION

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. RAFAEL RODRIGUEZ Specially Appointed Public Defender for Eric Kurt Patrick

LAW OFFICES OF J. RAFAEL RODRIGUEZ 6367 Bird Road Miami, Florida 33155 (305) 667-4445 (305) 667-4118 (FAX)

# **Oral Argument Requested**

Appellant, Eric Kurt Patrick, respectfully requests oral argument in this capital appeal.

#

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Appellant was the Defendant in the trial court and Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the lower court. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal, "SR" will designate the supplemental record on appeal, and "T" will designate the pre-trial, trial and sentencing transcripts.

# **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has appeal jurisdiction in this case. Defendant was sentenced to death. Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, provides that the Florida Supreme Court has jurisdiction of final orders of courts imposing sentences of death. <u>See also</u> Section 921.141(4), Florida Statutes.

# **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **Guilt Phase**

Defendant Eric Kurt Patrick was charged by Indictment with one count of first degree premeditated murder of Steven Schumacher by manual strangulation and/or blunt force trauma, in violation of Section 782.04(1), Florida Statutes [**Count I**]; one count of kidnapping with the intent to inflict bodily harm upon or to terrorize Steven Schumacher, in violation of Section 787.01, Florida Statutes [**Count II**]; and one count of robbery by taking property from the person or custody of Steven Schumacher, which property had a value of \$300 or more by the use of force, violence, assault or putting in fear, in violation of Section 812.13(1), Florida Statutes [**Count III**]. (R. 3-5). The State filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (R. 22-24).

Prior to trial, the defense filed a motion to suppress statement and motion to suppress physical evidence. (R. 576-588). The trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing on this motion. The court also considered the deposition of witness Joanne Decembre. (R. 615-640). Thereafter, the court entered an order denying the motion. (R. 612-614). In addition, the defense filed a motion in limine requesting that the court prohibit the prosecution from introducing evidence of Defendant's tattoos. (R. 589-590). The court entered an order reserving ruling on this motion. (R. 641). Subsequently, the court granted the motion. (T. 13). The State argued a motion in limine seeking to prohibit the defense from eliciting testimony that the victim commonly picked up gay men in the park and took them home. (T. 15). The defense argued that the victim's pattern and practice of behavior was relevant because it showed how Defendant and the victim met, it dispelled any idea that Defendant targeted the victim, and it explained the role of the aggressor in this case. (T. 16). The court granted the State's motion, noting that such evidence would place the victim in a bad light and would unnecessarily inflame the jury. (T. 16-18). The defense filed a motion for reconsideration. (R. 659-663; T. 798-802; T. 805-806). The State repeated its arguments in favor of the motion. (T. 802-

805). The court re-affirmed its prior order granting the State's motion. (T. 806-809).

The defense filed numerous penalty phase motions. R. 57-391; R. 428-507; R. 763-768; R. 772-863). The court conducted a hearing. The court entered several orders denying most of foregoing motions. The court granted the motion for recess between guilt/penalty phases and the motion for favorable evidence. (R. 519-575; T. 2259-2337). The defense raised certain motions again prior to jury selection and the court reaffirmed its earlier rulings. (T. 24-28).

Trial commenced in the cause on February 2, 2009. (R. 642; T. 1). Prior to jury selection, the defense reiterated its requests for individual voir dire and a jury questionnaire. The court had reserved ruling on some of the motions previously but now denied the motions. (R. 411-427; R. 559-561; T. 23-24). The court began voir dire. (T. 29). The court asked the venire numerous questions, including questions on the death penalty and juror hardships. The prosecutor proceeded to question the venire, including inquiries on the jurors' feelings on the death penalty, as well as on jurors' hardships. After the prosecutor's initial questioning, the court informed the venire that it would try to get the lawyers to agree on who had to return the next day or who would be excused. (T. 268-269). At this preliminary hearing on cause challenges, the court excused various jurors for cause over defense objection. (T. 275-276; T. 278; T. 279-280; T. 280-281; T. 282-283). The

defense reiterated its objections after the jurors were excused. (T. 290). The court continued the voir dire with additional jurors. The court informed the new venire about the death penalty and inquired into juror hardships. The State inquired about the new venire's views on the death penalty, and inquired about juror hardships. The court conducted a second hearing on cause challenges. At this second hearing, the court excused additional jurors for cause over defense objection. (T. 521-522; T. 523-524; T. 525). The defense preserved its objections. (T. 532). Thereafter, the defense was permitted to question the jurors. (T. 564). A further hearing on cause challenges was conducted, at which time the court excused several jurors for cause over defense objection. (T. 763-779). Subsequently, the court entertained peremptory challenges. (T. 779-788). Voir dire continued the following day with an additional panel of jurors. After the court questioned the jurors, the court permitted the parties to question the new panel. The court entertained additional cause challenges. (T. 1046-1053; T. 1056-1060). The defense continued with voir dire the next day. The court conducted another hearing to consider any additional cause and peremptory challenges. The court granted two cause challenges over defense objection. (T. 1180-1189). A jury was ultimately selected and sworn. (R. 642; T. 1204). The defense did not accept the panel and reiterated its objections prior to the jury being sworn. (R. 642; T. 1189-1190).

The court gave the jury preliminary instructions and read the indictment. (R. 642; T. 1211-1217). The State presented an opening statement. (R. 642; T. 1217-1230). Defendant's counsel thereafter presented opening statement. (R. 642; T. 1230-1236). At trial, the State called twelve (12) witnesses in its case-in-chief. The court conducted a preliminary charge conference prior to the State resting its case. (T. 1768-1775). Following testimony of David Nicholson, the State rested its case. (R. 643; T. 1843). Defendant presented his arguments on motions for judgments of acquittal. (R. 643; T. 1845). The court denied the motions. (R. 643; T. 1846-1847). The court continued the charge conference. (R. 643; T. 1847-1849; T. 1857-1878). Defendant Patrick was asked by the defense counsel and the court if he desired to testify and Patrick stated that he did not want to testify or call any witnesses. (T. 1850-1857). The defense called Detective Terry Gattis. (R. 643; T. 1881). Thereafter, the defense rested its case. (R. 643; T. 1884). The defense had renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal prior to Det. Gattis's testimony. The court denied it. (T. 1879). Subsequently, counsel for the State presented closing argument. (R. 643; T. 1886-1913). The defense then presented closing argument. (R. 643; T. 1913-1938). Counsel for the State presented a rebuttal closing argument. (T. 1940-1966).

The court instructed the jury. (R. 643; R. 680-710; T. 1997-2022). The jury retired to deliberate. (R. 643; T. 2022). The defense renewed its previous

objections to the instructions and renewed its previous requests for special jury instructions. (T. 2019). The court entered an order sequestering the jury. (R. 711-713). During deliberations, the jury requested to see the video of Defendant's confession, the box of pictures, the crime scene video, the transcript of witness Dietz's testimony, the M.E. report and the transcript of Patrick's interview with Mr. Nicholson. (R. 714; T. 2048-2049). The court informed the jurors that the court reporter would read the testimony and record it on a digital recorder. (R. 737; T. 2052-2054).<sup>1</sup> The jury also requested an English dictionary. (R. 715). The court informed the jury that they were to rely on the instructions and that the law did not permit dictionaries in the jury room during deliberations. (R. 715; T. 2039-2040). The jury requested the bank records from the ATM card showing the transactions made. This request was granted. (R. 717; T. 2046-2047). The jury requested the legal definitions of robbery, kidnapping and first degree murder. The court informed the jury that the definitions were contained in the packet of instructions given to them. (R. 718; T. 2039). The jury responded that the instructions had not been received. (R. 719).<sup>2</sup> Thereafter, the court reconvened to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The following morning, the court had the DVD statement and the crime scene video played for the jury and had the requested read-back read to the jury. (T. 2066-2117; T. 2117).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> During an in-court session, one of the jurors requested a list of the evidence. The court responded that there was no list, but jurors would be entitled to have any evidence they requested except those items marked biohazardous. (T. 2044-2046).

consider the jury's verdicts. Defendant was found guilty on all three (3) counts as charged in the indictment. (R. 720-722; T. 2124-2125). The jury was polled. (T. 2125-2126). Subsequently, Defendant filed a motion for new trial. (R. 753-755). The court denied the motion. (R. 884; T. 2514-2516).

#### **Penalty Phase**

Prior to the penalty phase, the defense renewed its previously filed penalty phase motions, filed objections to the standard jury instructions and filed several penalty phase instructions and advisory sentence instructions. (R. 740-752; R. 870-878; R. 879-881). Moreover, the defense filed a motion to allow introduction of expert testimony regarding the cost of imposing the death penalty v. life without possibility of parole, and a motion for reconsideration of the penalty phase admissibility of the victim's habit of seeking out younger men who are homeless and drug addicted to offer them help in exchange for sexual favors. (R. 756-759; R. 760-762). The State filed a motion in limine regarding the penalty phase listing fifteen separate areas of inquiry which it sought to prohibit. (R. 866-869). On April 17, 2009, the court ruled on the foregoing motions, renewing its prior rulings on Defendant's previously filed penalty phase motions, denying Defendant's new motions and requested instructions, overruling the defense objections to the standard jury instructions, and granting, in part, the State's motion in limine. The

In addition, one juror, Mr. Martin, informed the court that he was suffering anxiety in the jury room. The court promised more breaks. (T. 2118-2119).

court reserved ruling on certain requests by the State. (T. 2512-2555; T. 2559-2666; T. 2666-2676).

Thereafter, the trial court conducted the penalty phase of the trial. The defense renewed its previous objections to the standard jury instructions and penalty motions. (T. 2694; T. 2715). The court gave preliminary instructions. (R. 905; T. 2730-2732). The State of Florida presented an opening statement. (R. 905; T. 2733-2741). Thereafter, counsel for Defendant presented an opening statement. (R. 905; T. 2741-2765). The State called Scott Tyson and Dawn Allford. Thereafter, the State rested its case. (R. 891; R. 905; T. 2801). The defense called several witnesses, including Defendant Eric Patrick, and rested its case. (R. 891; R. 905; T. 3151-3189). The defense renewed its objections to the court's proposed instructions. (T. 3189).

The prosecution presented a penalty phase argument. (R. 905; T. 3201-3222). The defense presented its penalty phase argument. (R. 905; T. 3223-3258). The court instructed the jury. (R. 894-892; R. 905; T. 3261-3271). After deliberations, the jury returned an advisory verdict recommending a death sentence by a vote of 7-5. The jury was polled. (R. 904; R. 906; T. 3282-3285). The court ordered a pre-sentence investigation report. (T. 3291).

#### The Spencer Hearing and Final Order

On August 20, 2009, the court conducted the final sentencing hearing, pursuant to <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993). The defense called two experts. Defendant and his mother made statements to the court. (R. 907; R. 1025-1123). The defense presented a *Spencer* Memorandum in support of a life sentence. (R. 908-951).

On October 9, 2009, the court issued its sentencing order. (R. 959-977; T. 2146-2171). The court imposed the death penalty on Count I. (R. 976; R. 981-983; T. 2169-2170). The court sentenced Defendant to a mandatory life imprisonment term on Count II as a prison releasee reoffender. The Court sentenced Defendant to 30 years, as a violent habitual felony offender, with a 15-year minimum-mandatory term, on Count III, as a prison release reoffender. The court ordered the sentence on Count II to run consecutive to the imposition of death on Count I and ordered the sentence on Count III to run concurrent with Count II, but consecutive to the imposition of death on Count I and ordered the a notice of appeal. (R. 990). This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### **Guilt Phase**

At trial, the State called Robert Lyon as its first witness. Mr. Lyon testified that in September, 2005, he was living with his girlfriend, Jennie Scott, at the Park

Crest Apartments. He first met Steven Schumacher in Daytona Beach in 1994. In September, 2005, Schumacher was living in the same apartment complex near Mr. Lyon and Ms. Scott. Schumacher lived alone. Lyon and Scott would see him practically every day. Schumacher's physical condition was poor due to the fact that he had fallen and had neck problems. Schumacher would drive on occasion but was not allowed to drive after dark. Lyon would take Schumacher out for grocery shopping and doctor's appointments. Lyon was authorized to take care of Schumacher's financial affairs. Lyon and Scott would help Schumacher with cooking and cleaning. (T. 1277-1282). Lyon testified that the last time he saw Schumacher alive was on Sunday evening around 5:30 or 6 o'clock, when he stopped by to offer Schumacher some food. Lyon saw that Defendant Eric Patrick was with Schumacher. Lyon had seen Patrick around for about 2 weeks prior to that Sunday evening. Patrick was staying with Schumacher. On the Sunday in question, Lyon visited Schumacher for a few minutes. Lyon recalled that the apartment was very clean, just as Schumacher always kept it. Patrick was having a beer with Schumacher. Schumacher owned a Lincoln Town car and a truck. (T. 1282-1288). Lyon testified that he did not have any further contact with Schumacher that evening. On Monday morning Schumacher did not call Scott as he normally would do. Lyon and Scott left for work. When Lyon returned home from work later that day he noticed that Schumacher's truck was missing. Lyon

did not know why it was missing, but thought that maybe Schumacher had gone off on a short trip. On Tuesday morning, Schumacher did not make his usual phone call to Scott. Lyon went to work and while at work he received a call from Scott asking him to return home (T. 1288-1291). Lyon was not allowed entry into Schumacher's apartment when he returned. (T.1300). Lyon identified photographs of Schumacher and Patrick. (T. 1291-1292).<sup>3</sup> Lyon also identified various photographs of Schumacher's apartment, his personal belongings and his truck. (T. 1296-1298).

Jennie Scott testified that in September, 2005, she was living with Lyon at an apartment in Oakland Park, Florida. Scott knew Steven Schumacher for about two years. Scott would assist Schumacher on occasion by taking him shopping, picking up his prescriptions, cleaning his apartment, cooking for him and helping him in his recovery after surgery. Schumacher would drive his pickup truck, but not after certain hours. Scott first met Defendant Eric Patrick about a week and half prior to Schumacher's death. She met him about three times. She tentatively identified Mr. Patrick in the courtroom. (T. 1318-1323).<sup>4</sup> Scott last saw Schumacher alive on Sunday when he stopped by at her apartment. (T. 1323-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> During his testimony, Lyon was unable to make a definitive identification of Patrick in the courtroom. He stated that Patrick was "maybe" the person sitting in the courtroom. (T. 1298-1299).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Scott was unsure of her identification. However, defense counsel stipulated to identification. (T. 1323).

1324). Scott testified that she would normally get a phone call from Schumacher every day. He would tell her if he had any appointments or explain what he was going to do. The day after Schumacher stopped by her apartment, Scott testified that he did not call as usual. She went to work. That evening, Scott noticed that Schumacher's truck was not parked in the lot. Scott thought that maybe he had gone out to dinner. On Tuesday morning, Scott noticed the truck was still missing. Scott talked to her mother, who told her to call the police. Scott called the police and waited outside Schumacher's apartment. Scott opened the door to the apartment and walked in. Scott entered the bedroom, turned on the lights and noticed the bedroom was in disarray. She saw blood everywhere. At that point, Scott ran out of the apartment. The officer who had accompanied Scott into the apartment came out and told her Schumacher was dead. Scott provided the police with a description of Eric Patrick. (T. 1325-1334).

Deputy James Snell, Broward Sheriff's Office, testified that he was dispatched to an apartment complex in Broward County, Florida, on September 27, 2005, in relation to concerns expressed by a neighbor for her friend's safety. He met Scott, who entered Schumacher's apartment with her key. Scott entered while Snell waited outside. Shortly thereafter, Scott pleaded for Snell to enter. Snell entered the bedroom. Scott pulled back the comforter on the bed and she started to scream. She ran out of the apartment. Snell discovered Schumacher's body in the

bathtub just as his back-up officer arrived. Snell noticed that Schumacher was very bloody, he was tied with his hands and feet bound behind him and he had tape around his face. He was stiff and blood was pooled under his body. Snell checked for a pulse, but there was no sign of life. (T. 1342-1352). The police immediately secured the apartment and waited for the homicide detectives and crime scene to arrive. (T. 1354). Sgt. Richard Lacerra, Broward Sheriff's Office, testified that he responded as back-up for Deputy Snell. Lacerra stated that he met with Snell and entered the apartment. Lacerra noticed a lot of blood in the bedroom and saw the victim in the bathtub. Lacerra and Snell locked up the apartment and placed crime scene tape around the apartment and a nearby dumpster. (T. 1357-1361).

Sergeant Mark Suchomel, Broward Sheriff's Office, testified that he was assigned to the crime scene unit and responded to the Schumacher apartment. Sgt. Suchomel met with Deputy Snell and Sgt. Lacerra as well as Detective Bukata. Suchomel photographed and video-taped the scene.<sup>5</sup> Suchomel testified there were no signs of forced entry. (T. 1380-1384). Suchomel described the scene using the scene photographs. He pointed out those areas showing blood evidence. (T. 1392-1397). Suchomel testified that he discovered human teeth underneath part of the bedding, as well as suspect flesh. (T. 1397). Suchomel also described the pooling of blood in the bathtub. (T. 1398). He testified that the victim was taken out of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The video tape of the scene was shown to the jury. (T. 1389).

tub and it was determined that the material around his ankles appeared to be torn sheets from the bedding in the bedroom. (T. 1399). Altogether, three different types of material were used to bind the victim's wrists (tape, torn material and telephone cord) and two different materials were used to bind the victim's ankles (torn material and lamp cord). (T. 1400). Suchomel testified that when the victim was found he had brown tape about his head going horizontally and vertically. (T. 1401-1402). When he removed the tape from the victim's face, Suchomel discovered what appeared to be a pillow case folded up and placed over his mouth. He noted certain injuries to the victim's chin area. (T. 1402).

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