## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## CASE NO. SC09-2016

## ERIC KURT PATRICK

## Appellant,

v.

## STATE OF FLORIDA

## Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

# **

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

involved her calling the photographs disgusting and the murder itself vile. (T. 16:1965-66) Those comments cannot logically be construed as an attack on Patrick himself, only his handiwork. Furthermore, these also were in rebuttal after an argument where defense counsel himself repeatedly called the crime horrible and disgusting. Counsel went on to say:

They [the acts] are horrible and, you know, it speaks to just how despicable and low this person had become in life that he didn't come to his senses immediately and say, oh my God, what did I just do to this man, 911, hello. It took a couple of days. It took them finding him. You know, I can't defend his character, doesn't have much of it, but he is a human being and he did feel bad about what he did and he never intended for this to happen. ...

This is one of those horrible things in life that just happened.

(<u>Id.</u> 1936) The prosecutor may have picked up on counsel's choice of words but she did not use them to attack Patrick's character. Further, these were isolated comments and cannot constitute fundamental error. This Court should deny the appeal on this issue and affirm.

### **ISSUE VIII**

### THE TRIAL COURT EMPLOYED THE CORRECT LEGAL STANDARD IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL. (Restated)

Patrick next argues that the court used an incorrect legal standard in denying the defense's motion for judgement of acquittal on first degree murder and, presumably, although not stated, that the case should be reversed. He does not argue that there were insufficient facts to support premeditated or felony murder or that the court would have ruled differently if it had used some different standard. The State maintains that the trial court did use the correct legal standard and that there was sufficient evidence in the record to support a denial of a judgement of acquittal. Furthermore, the issue is unpreserved for appeal since there was no contemporaneous objection, nor is there fundamental error since the evidence existed to support the charges. J.B., 705 So. 2d at 1378; <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Relief is unwarranted.

A trial court should not grant a motion for judgment of acquittal unless there is no view of the evidence which the jury might take favorable to the opposite party that can be sustained under the law. *Taylor v. State*, 583 So.2d 323, 328 (Fla.1991).Where there is room for a difference of opinion between reasonable people as to the proof or facts from which an ultimate fact is to be established, or where there is room for such differences on the inferences to be drawn from conceded facts, the trial court should submit the case to the jury. *Id.* Once competent, substantial evidence has been submitted on each element of the crime, it is for the jury to evaluate the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses. *Davis v. State*, 703 So.2d 1055, 1060 (Fla.1997).

<u>Pearce v. State</u>, 880 So.2d 561, 571-72 (Fla. 2004). Here the trial court explicitly cited to this standard and subsequently used it in analyzing whether the motion should be granted on both the murder and kidnapping charges. (T. 16:1846-50)

All right. The Court has to look at the evidence at this juncture in the

light most favorable to the State in determining whether a prima facie case has been made out and with regard to count one, premeditation seems to always be an argument and that's why I cited into the record the case law, what the Supreme Court says how premeditation can be proven, the injuries, all of the relevant facts and circumstances.

(<u>Id.</u> 1846) The court then spoke the words quoted by Patrick. The court was merely using a short hand to state the law on a judgement of acquittal, seemingly recognized by both parties since neither objected to the court's statement.

Premeditation is a factual issue for the jury. Asay v. State, 580 So. 2d 610, 612 (Fla. 1991) Courts use different standards of review depending on whether there is direct or circumstantial evidence to prove it. Where the evidence of premeditation is direct, whether in whole or in part: as with other factual findings, a jury's finding of premeditation will be sustained if supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record. See, e.g., Wheeler v. State, 4 So. 3d 599, 605 (Fla. 2009). When the evidence of premeditation is wholly circumstantial then not only must the evidence be sufficient to support the finding of premeditation, but the evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, must also be inconsistent with any other reasonable inference. Cochran v. State, 547 So. 2d 928, 930 (Fla. 1989). The issue of inconsistency is a jury question and the verdict will be sustained if supported by competent, substantial evidence. Id. In both, it is up to the jury to determine whether there is premeditation, which the trial court here

alluded to.

Here, there was substantial evidence of both the kidnapping and the robbery to serve as the underlying statutorily enumerated felony to reach a felony murder conviction so the court did not err in denying the motion on that ground. More than a mere intent to kill, premeditation is a fully-formed conscious purpose to kill. <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 493 So. 2d 1019, 1021 (Fla. 1986). "This purpose to kill may be formed a moment before the act but must exist for a sufficient length of time to permit reflection as to the nature of the act to be committed and the probable result of that act." <u>Id.</u> Premeditation is a factual issue to be determined by the jury and, like other factual matters, may be established by circumstantial evidence. Id.

Evidence from which premeditation may be inferred includes such matters as the nature of the weapon used, the presence or absence of adequate provocation, previous difficulties between the parties, the manner in which the homicide was committed, and the nature and manner of the wounds inflicted. It must exist for such time before the homicide as will enable the accused to be conscious of the nature of the deed he is about to commit and the probable result to flow from it in so far as the life of his victim is concerned. No definite length of time for it to exist has been set and indeed could not be.

<u>Larry v. State</u>, 104 So. 2d 352, 354 (Fla. 1958). Where premeditation is sought to be proved by circumstantial evidence, the evidence must be inconsistent with every other reasonable inference. <u>Cochran</u>, 547 So. 2d at 930. This question of inconsistency is for the jury to determine. <u>Id.</u>

In this trial there was both direct and circumstantial evidence of premeditation. Patrick told Diez that he had planned to kill Schumacher long before he actually did. (T. 15:1660) The circumstantial evidence of premeditation consisted of: the violence of the attack with internal injuries including brain hemorrhaging and swelling as well as the crushed windpipe which had to be caused by sustained, massive force; Patrick's statement that he stopped the beating several times at Schumacher's request but then began again; the number of punches which resulted in injuries to Patrick's hands which caused him then to use an object to continue the beating; the movement of the beating from the bed to the floor near the foot of it; the force used in the blows demonstrated by the blood spatter; the lack of injuries on Patrick indicating no resistance by Schumacher; and so forth. Circumstantial evidence of premeditation can include the nature of the weapon used, the presence or absence of adequate provocation, previous difficulties between the parties, the manner in which the homicide was committed, and the nature and manner of the wounds inflicted. Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 381 (Fla.1994). There was competent, substantial evidence in the record to support the verdict on this charge and the court did not err in denying the motion for a judgement of acquittal. This Court should affirm.

#### **ISSUE IX**

# THERE WAS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR IN THE GUILT TRIAL. (Restated)

Patrick next claims that the cumulative errors in the guilt phase trial so infected the verdict that he should be granted a new trial. First, Patrick failed to sufficiently present or argue this issue in his brief and it should be denied on that basis. This issue is insufficiently pled. See Johnston v. State, 63 So.3d 730, 745 (Fla. 2011) (holding argument waived because defendant fails to "identify the alleged error, describe the factual determination he believes was necessary, or even set out the facts he believes are pertinent to the claim."); Anderson v. State, 822 So.2d 1261, 1268 (Fla. 2002) (finding claim waived where defendant "failed to brief and explain what the alleged cumulative errors are, and what their impact is on this case"); Coolen, 696 So.2d at 742 n. 2 (stating that failure to fully brief and argue points on appeal "constitutes a waiver of these claims"); Duest, 555 So.2d at 852 (opining "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal" - notation to issues without elucidation is insufficient and issue will be deemed waived).

Additionally, the challenges to his guilt phase raised in Issues I-VIII were meritless and/or insufficiently pled under <u>Duest</u> and, consequently, do not establish cumulative error. Patrick has failed to show error on the individual claims so he has not shown cumulative error. This Court should affirm the convictions.

In <u>Penalver v. State</u>, 926 So.2d 1118, 1137 (Fla. 2006), this Court explained the cumulative error analysis as follows:

The commission of an error by the trial court is only considered harmless where there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the verdict. *See Walton v. State*, 847 So.2d 438, 446 (Fla. 2003). Moreover, even when we find multiple harmless errors, we must still consider whether "the cumulative effect of [the] errors was such as to deny to defendant the fair and impartial trial that is the inalienable right of all litigants in this state and this nation." *Brooks v. State*, 918 So.2d 181, 202 (Fla. 2005) (quoting Jackson v. State, 575 So.2d 181, 189 (Fla. 1991)). In assessing the cumulative effect of such errors, we have considered whether (1) the errors were fundamental, (2) the errors went to the heart of the State's case, and (3) the jury would still have heard substantial evidence in support of the defendant's guilt. *Id.* 

Moreover, where the individual errors asserted are meritless or are procedurally barred, a claim of cumulative error fails. <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 866 So.2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003). <u>See Downs v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 (Fla. 1999) (finding where allegations of individual error are found to be without merit, a cumulative error argument based on the asserted errors must likewise fall); <u>Melendez v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 746, 749 (Fla. 1998) (same).

Patrick's challenges to his guilt phase raised in Issues I - VIII are meritless and/or insufficiently pled under <u>Duest</u>, and, as such, do not establish cumulative error. This Court should affirm the convictions.

#### **ISSUE X**

## THE PENALTY PHASE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED PROPERLY. (restated)

Patrick points to three instructions given the jury during the penalty phase: (1) advisory sentencing role of the jury; (2) lack of a requirement for a unanimous recommendation; and (3) prejudice or sympathy should not play a role in reaching a recommendation. He argues that the court erred in giving each since the jury's responsibility was diluted, there should be a unanimous jury recommendation, and preventing the jury from exercising mercy. Patrick fails to fully articulate and analyze why these instructions were erroneous nor does he demonstrate any prejudice from them. This issue is procedurally barred. Furthermore. These instructions are the standard jury instructions and this Court has repeatedly upheld them. This issue is without merit and the sentence should be affirmed.

Patrick fails to adequately brief this issue so it is procedurally barred and waived. <u>Duest</u>, 555 So.2d at 852 (opining "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal" - notation to issues without elucidation is insufficient and issue will be deemed waived); <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). Patrick references the objections trial counsel filed and raised below without further elaboration. He also mentions that counsel asked for some special instructions, again without elaboration. This Court in Jackson v.

State, 25 So.3d 518 (Fla. 2009) found the defendant waived appellate review of his objections to those instructions because "[s]uch summary arguments are insufficient to raise these claims on appeal." <u>Id.</u> At 533.

The Jackson court also stated that it rejected the proposition "that the giving of the standard penalty phase instructions, without further special instructions, constitutes reversible error. Id. This Court has consistently held that the standard penalty phase jury instructions fully advise the jury of the importance of its role, correctly state the law, and do not denigrate the role of the jury. See Jones v. State, 998 So.2d 573, 590 (Fla.2008); Miller v. State, 926 So.2d 1243, 1257 (Fla.2006); Perez v. State, 919 So.2d 347, 368 (Fla.2005); Card, 803 So.2d at 628; Brown v. State, 721 So.2d 274, 283 (Fla.1998). Furthermore, since standard jury instructions are presumed correct and are preferred over giving a special jury instructions, the proponent has the burden of proving the court abused its discretion in giving standard instruction. Stephens v. State, 787 So.2d 747, 755-56 (Fla. 2001); Elledge v. State, 706 So.2d 1340 (Fla. 1997); Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985). Patrick has failed to do this. The sentence should be affirmed.

#### **ISSUE XI**

# THE PROSECUTOR'S PENALTY PHASE ARGUMENT WAS PROPER. (Restated)

Patrick argues that he is entitled to be resentenced because the prosecutor

made improper arguments in her closing for the penalty phase trial, allegedly arguing an improper aggravator of lack of remorse, minimizing the jury's role in recommending the death penalty, and that the jury had to return a death sentence if one aggravator outweighed the mitigation. The prosecution's comments are misconstrued by Patrick and were not improper. Furthermore, Patrick lodged no objection to any of these comments at the time they were made and has, therefore, failed to preserve them for appellate review, nor are they fundamental error. This issue is without merit and the sentence should be affirmed.

At no time did the defense object to any of the comments he now alleges were improper. This entire issue is waived since there were no contemporaneous objections made. Since there were no objections, these claims can only be raised on appeal if the alleged errors are fundamental. <u>Card</u>, 803 So.2d at 622; <u>Poole</u>, 997 So.2d at 393 (Penalty phase argument on defendant's lack of remorse not fundamental error). For the errors to be fundament they must reach "down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty or jury recommendation of death could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." <u>Urbin v. State</u>, 714 So.2d 411, 418 n. 8 (Fla.1998) (quoting <u>Kilgore v. State</u>, 688 So.2d 895, 898 (Fla.1996)); <u>Walls</u>, 926 So.2d at 1176 (improper comments in penalty phase closing constitute fundamental error only if

they taint the jury's recommended sentence). Since none of these comments rise to the level of fundamental error, there are no grounds for reversal. <u>See Merck</u>, 975 So.2d at 1064; <u>Poole</u>, 997 So.2d at 394.

Patrick cites to the prosecutor's comment "No remorse there" as her arguing a non-statutory aggravator. (T. 27:3220) That is not the case. The defense argument had argued in the guilt phase that Patrick was remorseful and truthful. The prosecutor questioned him in the penalty phase on whether he took responsibility for all of his actions. Patrick denied doing certain things and generally put the onus for his behavior on his drug use at the time of the crime, again asserting that it did not plan this crime. The prosecutor was rebutting that when she made this comment in arguing that the crime was cold, calculated, and premeditated. She in no way argued that the existence of remorse could be used as an aggravator itself. Finally, the one use of the word "remorse" was isolated and does not constitute fundamental error. <u>Poole</u>, 997 So.2d at 393-94.

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